Research and management to reverse the decline of native mammal fauna | Final report

By Graeme Gillespie, John Woinarski, Sarah Legge, Alaric Fisher, Jonathan Webb, Rick Shine, Danielle Stokeld and Andrea Reiss











National Environmental Research Program

NORTHERN AUSTRALIA HUB





Northern Territory

Acknowledgements

This project was funded by the NERP Northern Australia Hub, which receives major funding for its research through the Australian Government's National Environment Research Program initiative.

We are thankful for the assistance and support of the Department of Land Resource Management; in particular we thank Brydie Hill, Stuart Young, Timothy Gentles, Tony Popic, Rohan Wilson, Kat Lowe, Kym Brennan and Terry Mahney.

We thank Traditional Owners of Kakadu National Park for allowing the research that was undertaken on their land. In particular, we thank Khan Spokes, Victor Cooper, Peter Christophersen and all the rangers at South Alligator Ranger Station for their continued assistance with managing the cat exclosure study area and maintenance of the research sites. Parks Australia's Anne O'Dea coordinated Indigenous consultation and provided assistance with logistics, volunteers and field activities.

Chris Kerin, Rebecca Montague-Drake, Roy Tipiloura, Ross Nabob, William Alderson, Marcus Dempsey, Vincent Djorlom, Patrick Green, Jacki Cahill, John Cahill, Joey Nganjmirra, Junior Gungali, Mick Marimwoa, Robert Green, Richard Cooper, Victor Cooper, Cadell Goodman, Harold Goodman, Kara Goodman, Luke Haala, Larry Cunningham, Kadeem May and numerous volunteers provided assistance in the field.

We thank the staff, students and volunteers, and the Traditional Owners of the AWC Sanctuaries involved in this research (especially Toby Barton, Rosie Hohnen, Alex James, Geoff Kelly, Lily Leahy, the Malay family, Tegan May, Hugh McGregor, Wallace Midmee and family, Ethan Page, Anja Skroblin, Daniel Swan, James Smith, Kath Tuft, Sammy & Betty Walker and family, Chris Whatley).

We are grateful to The Nature Conservancy, the JT Reid Charitable Trust, Rangelands NRM, and the many AWC supporters who co-funded the research and management programs on AWC sanctuaries. Andrew Burbidge and Peter Harrison assisted with preparation of the Australian Mammal Action Plan.

The following organisations assisted with the disease project: Wildlife Health Australia, Veterinary and Life Sciences, Murdoch University, Berrimah Veterinary Laboratories, Australian Registry of Wildlife Health, and Gribbles Adelaide. In particular we thank Kristen Warren, Bethany Jackson, Ann Glaskin, Lian Yeap, Bec Donaldson, Rebecca Vaughan-Higgins, Anna Le Souef, Amanda Duarte, Una Ryan and Peter Irwin, Timothy Portas, Mikaylie Wilson and Camilla Michie, Jodie Low Choy, Jemima Amery-Gale, Margaret-Mary McEwan, Teigan Cremor, Suresh Benedict, Susan Walsh, Lorna Melville, Tiggy Grillo, Rupert Woods, Sam Gilchrist, Karrie Rose, Jane Hall, Peter Kirkland (EMAI), Jenny Hill (VetPath), Joanne Devlin, Jane Owens, Scott Craig, Pat Statham.

© Charles Darwin University, 2015

Research and management to reverse the decline of native mammal fauna is published by Charles Darwin University and is for use under a Creative Commons attribution 4.0 Australia licence. For licence conditions see: <u>https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0</u>/

The citation for this publication is as follows:

Gillespie, G., Woinarski, J., Legge, S., Fisher, A., Webb, J., Shine, R., Stokeld, D. and Reiss, A. (2015). *Research and management to reverse the decline of native mammal fauna*. Darwin: Charles Darwin University

ISBN 978-1-925167-23-8

Printed by Uniprint

Charles Darwin University, Darwin Northern Territory, 0909, Australia.

Contents

Summary of project and achievements1
Principal focus and significance1
Distinctiveness of issue to this landscape2
Knowledge status and constraints2
Methodological approaches
Lessons learnt for this landscape
National implications of lessons learnt4
Problems addressing the focus and how overcome4
Towards implementation4
Looking ahead – future needs5
References6

Summary of project and achievements

This project sought to characterise the conservation status of the mammal fauna in northern Australia, investigate factors that may be implicated in the decline of this fauna, and identify effective management responses.

Study components demonstrated that predation by feral cats caused extirpation of an experimentally reintroduced population of a native mammal species (Frank *et al.* 2014), and that feral cat impacts were much more severe in areas that had been extensively burnt (McGregor *et al.* 2014; Leahy *et al.* in review); but a cat exclosure fencing study in Kakadu (see photo below) failed to demonstrate beneficial response by native mammals, possibly because the study period was too brief and mammal populations in the area were too depleted. Mammal surveys across combinations of fire and grazing treatments in the Kimberley showed that the benefits of improving fire patterns to mammal richness and abundance were significantly muted if introduced herbivores were present.

The first substantial assessment of the incidence of disease in mammal assemblages of northern Australia indicates the presence of some pathogens that may have lethal or sub-lethal impacts on native mammals, but there is uncertainty around their role in the current decline.



This cat exclosure fence was completed in Kakadu in late 2013.

Principal focus and significance

There has been a very severe loss in the Australian mammal fauna in the period since European settlement, with the most recent assessment (Woinarski *et al.* 2014) concluding that 30 mammal species have become extinct in Australia over that period. This extinction tally includes 29 species endemic to Australia, more than 10% of the endemic mammal fauna present in 1788. Earlier extinctions occurred mainly in central Australia and temperate Australia, but recent declines have mostly been in northern Australia (Woinarski *et al.* 2014). In at least parts of northern Australia, these recent declines have been severe and rapid, and have involved many species (Woinarski *et al.* 2001; Firth *et al.* 2010; Woinarski *et al.* 2011). This project sought to clarify the pattern of this decline, investigate the factors responsible for its cause, and determine management responses that will most effectively remediate the problem.

Distinctiveness of issue to this landscape

The current rate and severity of decline of the mammal fauna in at least parts of northern Australia is exceptional, with analysis indicating that it exceeds that elsewhere in Australia (Woinarski *et al.* 2014). This is of considerable conservation concern because northern Australia has previously experienced relatively little loss of biodiversity (since European settlement) and has acted as a refuge for many species and species-groups that have exhibited substantial declines elsewhere in Australia (Woinarski and Braithwaite 1990; Woinarski *et al.* 2007). The current declines in the mammal fauna in northern Australia are also exceptional in a global context, because most declines and extinctions elsewhere in the world have occurred in areas affected by substantial land clearing, habitat modification or hunting (Hoffmann *et al.* 2010; Hoffmann *et al.* 2011), issues that are not (yet) major concerns in northern Australia. A notable feature of the decline of mammals in northern Australia is that declines have been reported from some large and relatively well-resourced conservation reserves (Woinarski *et al.* 2010; Russell-Smith *et al.* 2014), indicating that reservation alone has been insufficient to maintain biodiversity and that the intensity, scope or approach of management in reserves may need substantial refinement.

This project focuses particularly on the conservation of the mammal fauna, because although there have been some marked declines in other plant and animal groups in northern Australia (Franklin 1999; Woinarski and Catterall 2004; Franklin *et al.* 2005), the extent of this decline is appreciably less than for mammals (Woinarski *et al.* 2012).

Knowledge status and constraints

Prior to the instigation of this project, previous studies had identified the extent of recent mammal decline, mostly through monitoring studies in a relatively small number of areas (Woinarski *et al.* 2001; Woinarski *et al.* 2010; Russell-Smith *et al.* 2014), complemented with broader-scale qualitative assessments garnered from traditional Indigenous knowledge (Ziembicki *et al.* 2013). Some previous studies have indicated a role of changed fire regimes (Yibarbuk *et al.* 2001; Kutt and Woinarski 2007; Legge *et al.* 2008; Firth *et al.* 2010; Woinarski *et al.* 2010) and of pastoralism (Woinarski and Ash 2002; Kutt and Woinarski 2007; Legge *et al.* 2011) in the general pattern of decline, and of poisoning by cane toads for the decline of one mammal species (O'Donnell *et al.* 2010). These studies have not been definitive and there remains much uncertainty about the relative impacts of different causes and of the extent of interactions among threat factors (Woinarski *et al.* 2011). Without clearer resolution of causality, managers are likely to be unable to implement tightly focused and effective management responses.

Furthermore, the geographic extent of decline in the north Australian mammal fauna, and the characteristics of declining species, are not yet well resolved (Fisher *et al.* 2014; Murphy and Davies 2014; Woinarski 2015).

Collectively these information gaps represent major constraints on management responses: accordingly addressing these main gaps formed a major focus for this project. However, addressing these key information gaps is not straightforward, given the potential range of threat factors and their interactions, the number and diversity of mammal species involved, and the extent and environmental variability of northern Australia. Furthermore, for one potential major threat – predation by feral cats – landscape-scale experimentation is difficult and expensive. Likewise, it is also difficult to search for a disease factor that may be causing decline across a wide range of mammal species, especially in a region where there is very little existing information on the incidence and impacts of almost all parasites and diseases.

There are constraints not only on research but also on the subsequent application of research outcomes to develop effective management responses. There may be few options for the cost-efficient control of feral cats, disease or cane toads; and a preferred fire regime (such as a significant increase in the extent of long-unburnt habitat) for at least some declining mammal species may now be almost impossible to establish.



Researchers conduct a health check on a northern brown bandicoot.

Methodological approaches

This project comprised multiple components, including:

- A Before-After-Control-Impact experimental trial of the effects of cat predation through the establishment of two 64 ha fenced cat exclosures in Kakadu National Park, with subsequent monitoring of the response of the native mammal fauna
- Experimental trial of impacts of cat predation through survival analysis of introduced mammal population in small-scale cat exclosures and matched sites that were cat-accessible
- Ongoing monitoring of mammal fauna at a large series of sites at Kakadu, Litchfield, Nitmiluk and Garig Gunak Barlu National Parks, plus AWC's Mornington, Marion Downs, Tableland, and Wongalara Wildlife Sanctuaries, with correlative analysis of trends for sites of differing fire histories, introduced herbivore densities and environmental settings
- Systematic inventories of the incidence of diseases among selected mammal species at sites known to be experiencing mammal decline and sites at which the mammal fauna is stable or undergoing relatively little decline
- Comprehensive overview of the conservation status of all Australian mammal species
- Broad-scale assessment of the abundance of feral cats through extensive remote camera surveys, and of diet through stomach content analysis
- Detailed study of the behaviour (including response to fire and grazing intensity) and abundance of feral cats though radio-tracking
- Detailed study of the survival (and causes of mortality) of selected mammal species, at sites with varying fire regimes
- Detailed study of survival of reintroduced 'toad smart' northern quolls in Kakadu to determine whether reintroduction could facilitate recovery of quol populations
- Assessment of the effectiveness of taste-aversion training for northern quolls in response to cane toad invasion of the Kimberley.

Additionally, we used expert assessments and management prioritisation to develop, collaboratively with Parks Australia, a conservation strategy for threatened species in Kakadu (Woinarski and Winderlich 2014b, 2014a). Most priority threatened species in Kakadu are mammals, and this document applied our research findings to resolve complex management challenges.

A recent comprehensive synthesis (Ziembicki *et al.* 2015) has collated results from these components of this project and other studies to review the status of mammals across northern Australia, the evidence implicating putative threats, and priority management responses. A specific symposium at the 2014 Ecological Society of Australia conference also brought together individual project components, and identified key findings and research and management priorities, and provided considerable publicity about the issues.

Lessons learnt for this landscape

There is a series of lessons for this landscape arising from this project. It is now evident that biodiversity in this landscape cannot be presumed to be secure simply because of the environments' relative intactness and the relatively extensive conservation reserve network. More intensive, active and focused management of key threats will be required. Our results suggest that the two main concerns are with predation, principally by feral cats, and fire, but also that introduced herbivores interact with both of these threats. Prior to this project and other recent studies, feral cats were generally regarded as not a significant concern in northern Australia. With results widely disseminated from our studies, there is now much greater awareness and appreciation of the potential threat posed by feral cats. Our results also suggest that the current frequent fire regime in most parts of northern Australia is likely to be detrimental (directly and through enhanced impacts of predation) to at least some components of the mammal fauna; and particularly so in the presence of introduced herbivores. There are clearly major challenges in attempting to implement broad-scale control of feral cats, and to reduce fire frequency and introduced herbivore densities in this landscape generally, and specifically in areas managed primarily for conservation.

National implications of lessons learnt

There are two major national implications arising from this project. The first is that there is a conservation imperative to develop effective broad-scale control of feral cats, or at least localised control in a series of areas of conservation significance; however, measures to mitigate feral cats need to be implemented in conjunction with addressing other threats operating in the landscape. The second implication is that the establishment of conservation reserves is necessary but not sufficient for the maintenance of biodiversity: those reserves must also be managed actively and purposefully to control key threats.

Problems addressing the focus and how overcome

It is not straightforward to clarify the direct and interactive impacts of a range of putative threats across many species in many areas within a relatively short timeframe. We sought to address this challenge through strategic prioritisation of research to address major information gaps that currently impede management. We also adopted a wide range of research approaches – including robust experiments, focused study of individual native mammal species and individual threats, monitoring, modelling, and comprehensive reviews – and undertook studies across many different areas.

Towards implementation

This project helped shape and implement major changes in the management of threatened species, particularly mammals, in Kakadu National Park, one of the most significant conservation reserves in northern Australia.

This project has provided further evidence of the important role of feral cats, fire and introduced herbivores in the decline of native mammals in northern Australia, and consequently of the need for better broad-scale management of these factors. However, these factors are challenging to manage. A high frequency and extent of fire is typical of much of northern Australia, including in many conservation reserves. For example, about 60% of the woodlands in the lowlands of Kakadu is burnt every year (Russell-Smith and Edwards 2014), a fire regime that is clearly dissonant with the conservation needs of many native mammal species. Large-scale, proactive, strategic and systematic fire management in the Kimberley demonstrates that purposeful management can achieve substantial beneficial changes in fire regime, most notably with increase in the extent of longer-unburnt vegetation (Legge and Fleming 2012), and sets an example that can be trialled across many other areas in northern Australia to enhance biodiversity management.

There are significant opportunities to enhance the control of feral cats in northern Australia. These include: (i) the development and implementation of better biosecurity for islands in which cats are not currently present; (ii) eradication of cats from selected islands with high conservation values; (iii) the more strategic use of cat-free islands for translocation of threatened mammals that are declining on the mainland; (iv) purposeful manipulation of fire regimes, grazing regimes and dingoes to reduce the abundance and impacts of feral cats; (v) strategic establishment of large-scale cat exclosures at sites that are significant for conservation; (vi) further research into baiting or other mechanisms to reduce the abundance of cats (without detrimental impacts on non-target species) at broader scale.



Improving fire regimes which more closely reflect the traditional Indigenous fire management practices is expected to lead to improved outcomes for biodiversity.

Looking ahead – future needs

This project has made substantial progress towards more effective conservation of the mammal fauna of northern Australia; however, it has also highlighted its complexity, notably the role of predation more broadly and its interactions with fire and productivity. There is therefore still substantial need for further research and enhanced management.

Our assessment of disease remains relatively preliminary, and much more detailed study is a high priority. In particular, further investigation of the epidemiology of Toxoplasma gondii to evaluate its lethal and sublethal effects on native mammals, and prevalence relationships with cat densities across northern Australia would be useful (this work would complement other research elsewhere in Australia).

The invasion of cane toads is a significant threat to populations of northern quolls in the Kimberley. Cane toad aversion baits could be used to reduce this threat, but further field studies are necessary. Establishing insurance captive populations of quolls prior to toad invasion may also warrant consideration.

The factors controlling the abundance and impacts of feral cats across northern Australia remain poorly resolved, and we have provided only preliminary evidence of the likely effects of fire and grazing pressure in influencing this predation impact. As the manipulation of fire and grazing may be one of the few relatively cost-effective mechanisms available to manage the impacts of feral cats, there is considerable value in attempting to further resolve this interaction.

In other parts of Australia, dingo populations may influence the abundance or impacts of feral cats (Kennedy *et al.* 2011; Brook *et al.* 2012), but may also have some detrimental impacts on a range of native species. Further research on this issue may be useful in northern Australia to help derive practical approaches to the management of feral cats and predator regimes more generally, particularly in relation to interactions with fire and grazing regimes, and productivity.

A major component of this project, the experimental use of cat exclosures in Kakadu, did not produce a marked positive response in the native mammal fauna. We suspect that this is because of the relative brevity of the study period (12 months) and the very low abundance of mammals in the study area. We consider that there is merit in continuing the study for a longer period.

References

Brook, L.A., Johnson, C.J., Ritchie, E.G. (2012) Effects of predator control on behaviour of an apex predator and indirect consequences for mesopredator suppression. *Journal of Applied Ecology* **49**, 1278-1286.

Firth, R.S.C., Brook, B.W., Woinarski, J.C.Z., Fordham, D.A. (2010) Decline and likely extinction of a northern Australian native rodent, the Brush-tailed Rabbit-rat Conilurus penicillatus. *Biological Conservation* **143**, 1193-1201.

Fisher, D.O., Johnson, C.N., Lawes, M.J., Fritz, S.A., McCallum, H., Blomberg, S.P., VanDerWal, J., Abbott, B., Frank, A., Legge, S., Letnic, M., Thomas, C.R., Fisher, A., Gordon, I.J., Kutt, A. (2014) The current decline of tropical marsupials in Australia: is history repeating? *Global Ecology and Biogeography* **23**, 181-190.

Frank, A., Johnson, C., Potts, J., Fisher, A., Lawes, M., Woinarski, J., Tuft, K., Radford, I., Gordon, I., Collis, M-A., Legge, S. (2014) Experimental evidence that feral cats cause local extirpation of small mammals in Australia's tropical savanna. *Journal of Applied Ecology* **51**, 1486-1493.

Franklin, D. (1999) Evidence of disarray amongst granivorous bird assemblages in the savannas of northern Australia, a region of sparse human settlement. *Biological Conservation* **90**, 53-68.

Franklin, D.C., Whitehead, P.J., Pardon, G., Matthews, J., McMahon, P., McIntyre, D. (2005) Geographic patterns and correlates of the decline of granivorous birds in northern Australia. *Wildlife Research* **32**, 399-408.

Hoffmann, M., Belant, J.L., Chanson, J.S., Cox, N.A., Lamoreux, J., Rodrigues, A.S.L., Schipper, J., Stuart, S.N. (2011) The changing fates of the world's mammals. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* **366**, 2598-2610.

Hoffmann, M., Hilton-Taylor, C., Angulo, A., Böhm, M., Brooks, T.M., Butchart, S.H.M., Carpenter, K.E., Chanson, J., Collen, B., Cox, N.A., Darwall, W.R.T., Dulvy, N.K., Harrison, L.R., Katariya, V., Pollock, C.M., Quader, S., Richman, N.I., Rodrigues, A.S.L., Tognelli, M.F., Vié, J-C., Aguiar, J.M., Allen, D.J., Allen, G.R., Amori, G., Ananjeva, N., Andreone, F., Andrew, P., Aquino Ortiz, A.L., Baillie, J.E.M., Baldi, R., Bell, B.D., Biju, S.D., Bird, J.P., Black-Decima, P., Blanc, J.J., Bolaños, F., Bolivar,-G. W., Burfield, I.J., Burton, J.A., Capper, D.R., Castro, F., Catullo, G., Cavanagh, R.D., Channing, A., Chao, N.L., Chenery, A.M., Chiozza, F., Clausnitzer, V., Collar, N.J., Collett, L.C., Collette, B.B., Cortez Fernandez, C.F., Craig, M.T., Crosby, M.J., Cumberlidge, N., Cuttelod, A., Derocher, A.E., Diesmos, A.C., Donaldson, J.S., Duckworth, J.W., Dutson, G., Dutta, S.K., Emslie, R.H., Farjon, A., Fowler, S., Freyhof, J., Garshelis, D.L., Gerlach, J., Gower, D.J., Grant, T.D., Hammerson, G.A., Harris, R.B., Heaney, L.R., Hedges, S.B., Hero, J-M., Hughes, B., Hussain, S.A., Icochea, M.J., Inger, R.F., Ishii, N., Iskandar, D.T., Jenkins, R.K.B., Kaneko, Y., Kottelat, M., Kovacs, K.M., Kuzmin, S.L., La Marca, E., Lamoreux, J.F., Lau, M.W.N., Lavilla, E.O., Leus, K., Lewison, R.L., Lichtenstein, G., Livingstone, S.R., Lukoschek, V., Mallon, D.P., McGowan, P.J.K., McIvor, A., Moehlman, P.D., Molur, S., Muñoz Alonso, A., Musick, J.A., Nowell, K., Nussbaum, R.A., Olech, W., Orlov, N.L., Papenfuss, T.J., Parra-Olea, G., Perrin, W.F., Polidoro, B.A., Pourkazemi, M., Racey, P.A., Ragle, J.S., Ram, M., Rathbun, G., Reynolds, R.P., Rhodin, A.G.J., Richards, S.J., Rodríguez, L.O., Ron, S.R., Rondinini, C., Rylands, A.B., Sadovy de Mitcheson, Y., Sanciangco, J.C., Sanders, K.L., Santos-Barrera, G., Schipper, J., Self-Sullivan, C., Shi, Y., Shoemaker, A., Short, F.T., Sillero-Zubiri, C., Silvano, D.L., Smith, K.G., Smith, A.T., Snoeks, J., Stattersfield, A.J., Symes, A.J., Taber, A.B., Talukdar, B.K., Temple, H.J., Timmins, R., Tobias, J.A., Tsytsulina, K., Tweddle, D., Ubeda, C., Valenti, S.V., van Dijk, P.P., Veiga, L.M., Veloso, A., Wege, D.C., Wilkinson, M., Williamson, E.A.,

Xie ,.F., Young, B.E., Akçakaya, H.R., Bennun, L., Blackburn, T.M., Boitani, L., Dublin, H.T., da Fonseca, G.A.B., Gascon, C., Lacher Jr., T.E., Mace, G.M., Mainka, S.A., McNeely, J.A., Mittermeier, R.A., McGregor Reid, G., Rodriguez, J.P., Rosenberg, A.A., Samways, M.J., Smart, J., Stein, B.A., Stuart, S.N. (2010) The impact of conservation on the status of the world's vertebrates. *Science* **330**, 1503-1509.

Kennedy, M., Phillips, B.L., Legge, S., Murphy, S.A., Faulkner, R. (2011) Do dingoes suppress the activity of feral cats in northern Australia? *Austral Ecology* **37**, 134-139.

Kutt, A.S., Woinarski, J.C.Z. (2007) The effects of grazing and fire on vegetation and the vertebrate assemblage in a tropical savanna woodland in north-eastern Australia. *Journal of Tropical Ecology* **23**, 95-106.

Leahy, L., Legge, S.M., Tuft, K., McGregor, H., Barmuta, L., Jones, M., Johnson, C.N. (in press) Amplified predation after fire drives declines of small mammals in Australia's tropical savannas. *Wildlife Research.*

Legge, S., Fleming, A. (2012) Fire management in the central Kimberley (EcoFire): delivering measurable results by integrating science and land management in a cost-effective model. In 'Innovation for 21st century conservation'. (Eds P. Figgis, J. Fitzsimons and J. Irving) pp. 124-135. (Australian Committee for IUCN: Sydney)

Legge, S., Kennedy, M.S., Lloyd, R., Murphy, S., Fisher, A. (2011) Rapid recovery of mammal fauna in the central Kimberley, northern Australia, following removal of introduced herbivores. *Austral Ecology* **36**, 791-799.

Legge, S, Murphy, S., Heathcote, J., Flaxman, E., Augusteyn, J., Crossman, M. (2008) The short-term effects of an extensive and high-intensity fire on vertebrates in the tropical savannas of the central Kimberley, northern Australia. *Wildlife Research* **35**, 33-43.

McGregor, H.W., Legge, S., Jones, M.E., Johnson, C.N. (2014) Landscape management of fire and grazing regimes alters the fine-scale habitat utilisation by feral cats. *PLoS ONE* **9**: e109097.

Murphy, B.P., Davies, H.F. (2014) There is a critical weight range for Australia's declining tropical mammals. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* **23**, 1058-1061.

O'Donnell, S., Webb, J.K., Shine, R. (2010) Conditioned taste aversion enhances the survival of an endangered predator imperiled by a toxic invader. *Journal of Applied Ecology* **47**, 558-565.

Russell-Smith, J., Edwards, A. (2014) 'Draft Kakadu National Park Lowlands (Anberrk Kandjikandji) fire management strategy.' Darwin Centre for Bushfire Research, Darwin.

Russell-Smith, J., Edwards, A., Woinarski, J., Fisher. A., Murphy, B.P., Lawes, M., Crase, B., Thurgate, N. (2014) North Australian tropical savannas: the three parks savanna fire-effects plot network. In 'Biodiversity and environmental change: monitoring, challenges and direction'. (Eds D. Lindenmayer, E. Burns, N. Thurgate and A. Lowe) pp. 335-378. (CSIRO Publishing: Melbourne)

Woinarski, J., Mackey, B., Nix, H., Traill, B. (2007) 'The Nature of Northern Australia: natural values, ecological processes and future prospects.' (ANU e-press: Canberra)

Woinarski, J.C.Z. (2015) Critical-weight range marsupials in northern Australia are declining: a commentary on Fisher et al (2013) The current decline of tropical marsupials in Australia: is history repeating? *Global Ecology and Biogeography* **24**, 118-122.

Woinarski, J.C.Z., Armstrong, M., Brennan, K., Fisher, A., Griffiths, A.D., Hill, B., Milne, D.J., Palmer, C., Ward, S., Watson, M., Winderlich, S., Young, S. (2010) Monitoring indicates rapid and severe decline of native small mammals in Kakadu National Park, northern Australia. *Wildlife Research* **37**, 116-126.

Woinarski, J.C.Z., Ash, A.J. (2002) Responses of vertebrates to pastoralism, military land use and landscape position in an Australian tropical savanna. *Austral Ecology* **27**, 311-323.

Woinarski, J.C.Z., Braithwaite RW (1990) Conservation foci for Australian birds and mammals. *Search* **21**, 65-69.

Woinarski, J.C.Z., Burbidge, A.A., Harrison, P.L. (2014) 'The Action Plan for Australian Mammals 2012.' (CSIRO Publishing: Melbourne)

Woinarski, J.C.Z., Catterall, C.P. (2004) Historical changes in the bird fauna at Coomooboolaroo, northeastern Australia, from the early years of pastoral settlement (1873) to 1999. *Biological Conservation* **116**, 379-401.

Woinarski, J.C.Z., Fisher, A., Armstrong, M., Brennan, K., Griffiths, A.D., Hill, B., Choy, J.L., Milne, D., Stewart, A., Young, S., Ward, S., Winderlich, S., Ziembicki, M. (2012) Monitoring indicates greater resilience for birds than for mammals in Kakadu National Park, northern Australia. *Wildlife Research* **39**, 397-407.

Woinarski, J.C.Z., Legge, S., Fitzsimons, J.A., Traill, B.J., Burbidge, A.A., Fisher, A., Firth, R.S.C., Gordon, I.J., Griffiths, A.D., Johnson, C.N., McKenzie, N.L., Palmer, C., Radford, I., Rankmore, B., Ritchie, E.G., Ward, S., Ziembicki, M. (2011) The disappearing mammal fauna of northern Australia: context, cause, and response. *Conservation Letters* **4**, 192-201.

Woinarski, J.C.Z., Milne, D.J., Wanganeen, G. (2001) Changes in mammal populations in relatively intact landscapes of Kakadu National Park, Northern Territory, Australia. *Austral Ecology* **26**, 360-370.

Woinarski JCZ, Winderlich S (2014a) 'Optimising management actions or the conservation of threatened speces in Kakadu National Park. Background paper for Kakadu National Park Threatened Species Strategy.' (North Australian Hub of the National Environmental Research Program: Darwin)

Woinarski, J.C.Z., Winderlich, S. (2014b) 'A strategy for the conservation of threatened species and threatened ecological communities in Kakadu National Park, 2014-2024.' (North Australian Hub of the National Environmental Research Program: Darwin)

Yibarbuk, D., Whitehead, P.J., Russell-Smith, J., Jackson, D., Godjuwa, C., Fisher, A., Cooke, P., Choquenot, D., Bowman, D.M.J.S. (2001) Fire ecology and Aboriginal land management in central Arnhem Land, northern Australia: a tradition of ecosystem management. *Journal of Biogeography* **28**, 325-343.

Ziembicki, M.R., Woinarski, J.C.Z., Mackey, B. (2013) Evaluating the status of species using Indigenous knowledge: Novel evidence for major native mammal declines in northern Australia. *Biological Conservation* **157**, 78-92.

Ziembicki, M.R., Woinarski, J.C.Z., Webb, J.K., Vanderduys, E., Tuft, K., Smith, J., Ritchie, E.G., Reardon, T.B., Radford, I.J., Preece, N., Perry, J., Murphy, B.P., McGregor, H., Legge, S., Leahy, L., Lawes, M.J., Kanowski, J., Johnson, C.N., James, A., Griffiths, A.D., Gillespie, G., Frank, A., Fisher, A., Burbidge, A.A. (2015) Stemming the tide: progress towards resolving the causes of decline and implementing management responses for the disappearing mammal fauna of northern Australia. *Therya*.





This research was supported by funding from the Australian Government's National Environmental Research Program

Email: nerp.northern@cdu.edu.au Phone: 08 8946 6761









Northern Biodiversity